S261812

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

PUBLIC GUARDIAN OF CONTRA COSTA COUNTY, Petitioner,

v.

E.B.,
Respondent.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL,
FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FIVE, CASE NO. A157280
CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT, CASE NO. P18-01826
HONORABLE SUSANNE M. FENSTERMACHER, JUDGE • PHONE: (925) 608-1115

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SHARON L. ANDERSON (BAR NO. 94814)

COUNTY COUNSEL
STEVEN RETTIG (BAR NO. 178447)
ASSISTANT COUNTY COUNSEL
*PATRICK L. HURLEY (BAR NO. 174438)
DEPUTY COUNTY COUNSEL
P.O. BOX 69

MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 94553-4681 (925) 655-2200 • FAX: (925) 655-2266 steven.rettig@cc.cccounty.us patrick.hurley@cc.cccounty.us

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does equal protection require that persons subject to a conservatorship under the Lanterman-Petris-Short Act (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 5350) have the same right to invoke the statutory privilege not to testify as persons subject to involuntary commitments under Penal Code section 1026.5 after a finding of not guilty by reason of insanity?

INTRODUCTION

Lanterman-Petris-Short Act ("LPS Act") proceedings provide a procedure through which the State can care for people who cannot care for themselves due to mental illness. By contrast, not guilty by reason of insanity ("NGI") commitments arise from a charged criminal act and are primarily designed to "protect society from dangerous people." (*Conservatorship of E.B.* (2020) 45 Cal.App.5th 986, 1001 [259 Cal.Rptr.3d 281] [Burns, J., concurring].) Because of the stark difference in the goals of the two statutory schemes, LPS Act conservatees and NGIs are not similarly situated for the purposes of the right against compelled testimony at commitment hearings. Therefore, respondent E.B.'s equal protection claim fails.

The court below erred in finding that LPS conservatees and NGIs "are similarly situated for the purposes of requiring the state to justify" the disparate treatment in terms of the statutory privilege against compelled testimony. (*Id.* at p. 997.) This Court should reject that conclusion and adopt the holding in *Conservatorship of Bryan S.* (2019) 42 Cal.App.5th 190, 198 [255 Cal.Rptr.3d 195]) that "LPS Act conservatees are not similarly situated [to NGIs and] equal protection does not require that they be free from the compulsion to testify." (*Id.* at p. 198.)

NGIs are subject to commitment under Penal Code section 1026.5(b)(1) if they were charged with a felony, found to be not guilty by reason of insanity, and "represent a substantial danger of physical harm to others" because of a "mental disease, defect,

or disorder." (Pen. Code, § 1026.5(b)(1).) Moreover, before a person can be determined to be an NGI, they must be found to have committed the crime with which they were charged. (Pen. Code, § 1026.)

By contrast, only as a last resort, a person may be placed in an LPS conservatorship if he is "unable to provide for his or her basic personal needs for food, clothing, or shelter" because of "a mental health disorder." (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 5008(h)(1)(A).) The absence of a connection with the criminal justice system, among other dissimilarities, compels the conclusion that LPS Act conservatees and NGIs are not similarly situated with respect to the right to be free from compelled testimony. Even if they were, there are compelling reasons to allow the State to compel a potential LPS conservatee to testify at conservatorship proceedings.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Office of the Public Guardian, as designee of the Director of the Contra Costa County Health Services Department, acting on a referral from San Jose Behavioral Health, filed a petition for the appointment of a conservator for respondent E.B. (Clerk's Transcript ["CT"] 004-010.) The conservatorship was sought based on information that E.B. was gravely disabled due to a mental disorder. (CT 004.)

The court ordered a temporary conservatorship. (CT 013-015.) A trial was then held on whether E.B. should be placed in a one-year conservatorship. Three witnesses testified at the conservatorship trial. Psychiatrist Michael Levin, M.D., worked

for Contra Costa County at the Concord Mental Health Clinic and evaluated clients for the Public Guardian's office. He testified that E.B. had diagnostic symptoms of schizophrenia and took several drugs to treat it. (Reporter's Transcript ["RT"] 66-67, 71-72.) According to Dr. Levin, E.B. had limited insight into his mental illness which made it difficult for him to cooperate with treatment. (RT 72-74.)

Dr. Levin believed E.B. was gravely disabled and had a major psychiatric illness. (RT 74-75.) He testified that E.B. would not be able to provide himself with food and shelter, and had been unable to do so in the past. Dr. Levin's testimony did not include any description or opinion about violent or criminal behavior by E.B. in the past, nor did he suggest it was likely that E.B. might engage in such behavior in the future. (RT 58-82.)

James Grey, a licensed marriage and family therapist, previously worked with E.B. as a mental health specialist and was later assigned to E.B.'s case as deputy conservator for the Public Guardian. (RT 102-104.) Grey testified regarding E.B.'s history of medication non-compliance as well as failing to negotiate checks written for his benefit. (RT 106-109.)

Grey visited E.B. in a locked mental health rehabilitation center and found him to be guarded and paranoid, with an extremely flat affect, and a disorganized thought process. (RT 116-117.) Grey's testimony did not include any description of violent or criminal behavior by E.B. in the past, nor did he suggest that it was likely that E.B. might engage in such behavior in the future.

Finally, over objection, E.B. was called as a witness by the Public Guardian. E.B.'s testimony was disorganized and, at times, incoherent. He knew that he had been staying in "board and care" and, before that, had been in a mental health unit but did not appear to understand why he was there. (RT 85-89.) He testified that he had a "mental health" and took medication for it but also testified that he did not understand why he was taking the medication and knew when he did not need it. (RT 90-92.) He testified that he would "rely on the conservatorship" to pay for food if he was released. (RT 95.) Nothing about his testimony related to violent or criminal acts, nor was he asked any questions that could incriminate him.

The jury found E.B. was gravely disabled due to a mental disorder. (CT 106.) The trial court placed E.B. in a one-year conservatorship and found that his current placement in a mental health rehabilitation facility was the least restrictive and most appropriate placement. (RT 156.)

E.B. appealed the judgment to the First District Court of Appeal. His sole contention on appeal was that "he had a right to refuse to testify under the equal protection clause, because that right has been statutorily granted in proceedings to extend the commitment of persons found not guilty by reason of insanity (NGI), and he is entitled to the same protection." (*Conservatorship of E.B.*, 45 Cal.App.5th at p. 988.).

After full briefing, Division Five of the First District held that LPS conservatees are similarly situated to NGIs and individuals subject to other involuntary civil commitments for purposes of the right against compelled testimony. (*Id.* at p. 986.)

Division Five expressly rejected the holding of Division One of the same court in *Conservatorship of Bryan S.* (*Id.* at p. 997.) This Court granted the Public Guardian's petition for review.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. LPS ACT CONSERVATEES ARE NOT SIMILARLY SITUATED WITH NGIs AS IT RELATES TO THE PRIVILEGE AGAINST COMPELLED TESTIMONY

E.B.'s appeal of the conservatorship judgment was based solely on the argument that equal protection required that LPS Act conservatees be afforded the statutory right against compelled testimony given to NGIs. However, LPS Act conservatees and NGIs are not similarly situated for the purposes of a statutory right given to NGIs to refuse to testify in commitment hearings. LPS Act proceedings serve to protect vulnerable individuals who may be gravely disabled and unable to care for themselves and obtain basic needs, including food, clothing, and shelter. NGI proceedings are primarily designed to protect society from dangerous people who were charged with crimes. Potential LPS Act conservatees do not have an equal protection right to refuse to testify at conservatorship hearings.

The first prerequisite to a claim under the equal protection clause is to show that the state adopted a classification that affects two or more similarly situated groups in an unequal manner. (*People v. McKee* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1172, 1202 [104 Cal.Rptr.3d 427, 223 P.3d 566].) The question is whether persons are similarly situated "for purposes of the law challenged." (*Id.*)

"If persons are not similarly situated for purposes of the law, an equal protection claim fails at the threshold." (*People v. Curlee* (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 709, 720 [188 Cal.Rptr.3d 421], quoting *People v. Buffington* (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 1149, 1155 [88 Cal.Rptr.2d 696].) "Where two or more groups are properly distinguishable for purposes of the challenged law, it is immaterial if they are indistinguishable in other respects." (*People v. Barrett* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 1081, 1107 [144 Cal.Rptr.3d 661, 281 P.3d 753].)

1. Purpose of LPS Conservatorships and NGI Commitments are Different

The purpose of the LPS conservatorship sought for E.B. was to provide individualized treatment, supervision, and placement for him because he was gravely disabled due to a mental illness. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 5350.1.) For LPS Act conservatorships, "[t]he state's purpose is solely one of remedial treatment; it seeks neither retribution nor protection of society -- the government's primary interests in criminal prosecutions. The Act serves to protect the person from the consequence of his own infirmity rather than to protect society from the person." *Conservatorship of Roulet* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 219, 237 [152 Cal.Rptr. 425, 590 P.2d 1] (citations omitted).)

An LPS Act conservatorship "is not initiated in response, or necessarily related, to any criminal acts; it is of limited duration, expiring at the end of one year. . . . The sole state interest, legislatively expressed, is the custodial care, diagnosis,

treatment and protection of persons who are unable to take care of themselves and who for their own well-being and the safety of others cannot be left adrift in the community [§ 5001]. The commitment may not reasonably be deemed punishment either in its design or purpose. It is not analogous to criminal proceedings." (Conservatorship of Baber (1984) 153 Cal.App.3d 542, 549 [200 Cal.Rptr. 262], quoting Cramer v. Tyars (1979) 23 Cal.3d 131, 137 [151 Cal.Rptr. 653, 588 P.2d 793].)

As expressed in the Act itself, its goals include, "ending the inappropriate and indefinite commitment of the mentally ill, providing prompt evaluation and treatment of persons with serious mental disorders, guaranteeing and protecting public safety, safeguarding the rights of the involuntarily committed through judicial review, and providing individualized treatment, supervision and placement services for the gravely disabled by means of a conservatorship program. ([Welf. & Inst. Code,] § 5001.)" (Conservatorship of Ben C. (2007) 40 Cal.4th 529, 540-43 [53 Cal.Rptr.3d 856, 150 P.3d 738], quoting Conservatorship of Susan T. (1994) 8 Cal.4th 1005, 1009 [36 Cal.Rptr.2d 40, 884 P.2d 988].) The LPS Act "also serves to protect the mentally ill from criminal victimization (§ 5001, subd. (g)) and from the myriad forms of suffering endured by those unable to care for themselves." (Id. at p. 540.)

In light of the focus of the LPS Act, its proceedings are designed to ascertain "the true state of respondent's disability." (*Conservatorship of Baber*, 153 Cal.App.3d. at p. 549.) "A conservatorship proceeding is not a prosecution for a particular

act, but an attempt to determine a condition which is subject to change." (*Id.* at p. 550.)

At issue in the trial court below was whether E.B. was "gravely disabled" under Welfare & Institutions Code section 5008, subd. (h)(1)(A): "a condition in which a person, as a result of a mental health disorder, is unable to provide for his or her basic personal needs for food, clothing or shelter." While other commitment statutes under the LPS Act focus on public protection and specifically consider whether the person is a danger to others (Welf. & Inst. Code, §§ 5150, 5250, 5300, 5008(h)(1)(B)), the LPS conservatorship at issue in this case pertains to grave disability due to a mental disorder causing an inability to provide for food, clothing, or shelter. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 5008(h)(1)(A).) Danger and public protection are not at issue in E.B.'s case.

NGI proceedings are different. A commitment hearing for an NGI is generally sought when the person was charged with a felony and "by reason of a mental disease, defect, or disorder represents a substantial danger of physical harm to others." (Pen. Code, § 1026.5(b)(1).) NGI commitments are primarily designed to "protect society from dangerous people." (*Conservatorship of E.B.*, 45 Cal.App.5th at p. 1001 [Burns, J., concurring].)

Courts that have compared NGI commitments to other civil commitment schemes have recognized that central goal. For instance, in *Curlee*, *supra*, 237 Cal.App.4th 709, relying primarily on *McKee*, 47 Cal.4th 1172, found Sexually Violent Predators ("SVP") and NGIs similarly situated because "[b]oth groups have

committed a criminal act and have been found to suffer from a mental condition that might present a danger to others." (*Curlee*, 237 Cal.App.4th at p. 720, citing *In re Moye* (1978) 22 Cal.3d 457, 464 [149 Cal.Rptr.491, 584 P.2d 1097], superseded by statute as stated in *People v. Bennett* (1982) 131 Cal.App.3d 488, 493 [182 Cal.Rptr. 473].) The court also relied on the fact that, "[t]he purpose of the [SVP and NGI] commitment is the same: To protect the public from those who have committed criminal acts and have mental disorders and to provide mental health treatment for the disorders." (*Id.*)

In People v. Dunley (2016) 247 Cal.App.4th 1438 [203 Cal.Rptr.3d 335], the court found persons subject to involuntary commitment proceedings pursuant to the Mentally Disordered Offenders Act (Pen. Code, § 2960 et seq.) ("MDOs") were similarly situated to NGIs for the purposes of the right against compelled testimony. (Id. at p. 1450.)

The *Dunley* court relied primarily on the holding in *McKee*, specifically this Court's discussion that SVPs and MDOs were similarly situated as it related to indefinite commitments because both classes of offenders have been found "to suffer from mental disorders that render them dangerous to others," and "have been convicted of a serious or violent felony." (*Id.* at p. 1448, quoting *McKee*, 47 Cal.4th at p. 1203.)

This Court previously recognized that "the Legislature may make reasonable distinctions between its civil commitment statutes based on a showing 'that those who are reasonably determined to represent a greater danger may be treated differently from the general population.' [Citation.] A prior

adjudication of criminal conduct is a reasonable proxy for greater danger to the public and may therefore serve as a basis for treating civil committees subject to such an adjudication differently from the general class of individuals subject to civil commitment." (*McKee, supra,* 47 Cal.4th at p. 1204, quoting *In re Smith* (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1251, 1266 [73 Cal.Rptr.3d 469, 178 P.3d 446].)

The Conservatorship of Bryan S. court, after considering the holdings of Curlee and Dunley, concluded that NGIs and LPS conservatees were not similarly situated because LPS conservatorship proceedings do not arise from criminal charges and the purpose of civil commitment for NGIs is different because its goal is to "protect the public from people who have been found to be dangerous to others[.]" (42 Cal.App.5th at p. 197.) The court also relied on the statement by the court in Conservatorship of Baber that "[w]e cannot overemphasize the importance of recognizing that a prospective conservatee is not a criminal defendant but, in many cases, a person in dire need of the state's assistance." (Id. at p. 197.)

2. NGI Commitments are More Closely Related to Criminal Proceedings Than LPS Act Conservatorships

NGIs and LPS Act conservatees are also not similarly situated because a commitment hearing for an NGI is more closely related to a criminal hearing than a conservatorship hearing under the LPS Act.

For instance, Penal Code section 1026.5(b)(3) provides that the "rules of discovery in criminal cases shall apply" to an NGI commitment extension hearing. A petition to extend the commitment of an NGI is brought by the "prosecuting attorney." (Pen. Code, § 1026.5(b)(2).) And, under certain circumstances, the NGI may be held in county jail pending the commitment extension hearing. (Id., § 1026.5(b)(6).)

The legislature recognized the quasi-criminal nature of NGI proceedings by expressly making the "rights guaranteed under the federal and State Constitutions for criminal proceedings" available to NGIs. (Pen. Code, § 1026.5(b)(7).)

The court below recognized that the statutory scheme for NGIs shares "a common purpose with criminal law -- protecting the public from dangerous people who would otherwise be released from state prisons or hospitals." (*Conservatorship of E.B.*, 45 Cal.App.5th at p. 1003.)

Similar markers of a similarity to criminal proceedings are not as prevalent in conservatorship hearings under the LPS Act. Courts have recognized that "certain protections for criminal defendants, including the right against self-incrimination and exclusion of certain evidence, have not been applied to LPS proceedings because they are contrary to the statute's purpose of providing assistance to disabled individuals unable to help themselves." (Conservatorship of Christopher A. (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 604, 611-12 [43 Cal.Rptr.3d 427], citing Conservatorship of Baber, 153 Cal.App.3d. at p. 550; Conservatorship of Susan T., 8 Cal.4th at p. 1020.)

The petition for a conservatorship in this case was brought by the County's Public Guardian, part of the Health Services

Department, not a prosecuting attorney. A petition for an LPS

Act conservatorship can also be sought by a psychiatrist, family member, or any interested person or friend of the potential conservatee. (Welf. & Instit. Code, § 5350; Prob. Code, § 1820.)

LPS Act conservatees are required to be housed in the least restrictive settings. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 5358(a)(1)(A),(c)(1).) No part of the LPS Act authorizes a potential conservatee to be held in county jail pending a hearing on the conservatorship.

The legislature chose to make the rights guaranteed for criminal defendants expressly applicable to NGIs. There is no similar provision in the LPS Act. This Court has recognized that "the Legislature may make reasonable distinctions between its civil commitment statutes based on a showing that the persons are not similarly situated, meaning that those who are reasonably determined to represent a greater danger may be treated differently from the general population. . . ." (In re Smith, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 1266.)

3. The Prospect of Unduly Restrictive or Prolonged LPS Commitments is Mitigated by the Protections Provided by the Act

LPS Act conservatorships are also unlike NGI commitments in terms of the protections in place for people placed into conservatorships under the Act. Unlike NGIs, LPS conservatees may avoid commitment through the assistance of third parties such as family, friends, or others. (Welf. & Inst.

Code, § 5350(e).) The county-designated LPS conservatorship investigator must investigate all available alternatives to conservatorship; the conservatorship is considered the last resort. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 5354, Conservatorship of Susan T., 8 Cal.4th at p. 1010.)

The LPS Act conservatorship process also prioritizes non-state actors, such as family or other eligible persons, to be appointed as conservator before the county public guardian will be appointed. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 5350(b)(1); Prob. Code, §§ 1812, 2920; see Welf. & Inst. Code, § 5350 [The procedures for LPS conservatorship are the same as Division 4 of the Probate Code.]) NGIs are not appointed a conservator to meet their ongoing needs for treatment or to manage their care and finances.

In LPS Act conservatorship proceedings, the trial court provides ongoing supervision focused on the LPS conservatee's current needs, condition, and progress. (Conservatorship of Ben C., 40 Cal.4th at p. 543.) While LPS conservatees have a right to receive the least restrictive placement under Section 5358(a)(1)(A), NGI committees are often initially placed at the California Department of State Hospitals. (Pen. Code, §§ 1601, 1026.) LPS conservators may step a conservatee down to a less restrictive placement without court approval (Welf. & Inst. Code, §5358), while NGI committees are subject to a court supervised conditional release program. (Pen. Code, §1026.2.)

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