IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Conservatorship of E.B.

PUBLIC GUARDIAN OF CONTRA COSTA COUNTY,

Petitioner and Respondent,

 \mathbf{v} .

E.B.,

Objector and Appellant.

S261812

First District Court of Appeal No. A157280

Contra Costa County Superior Court No. P18-01826

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the Decision of the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Five

Appeal from the Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for Contra Costa County, Honorable Susanne M. Fenstermacher, Judge

> JONATHAN SOGLIN Executive Director

*JEREMY PRICE
(Bar No. 238299)
Staff Attorney
First District Appellate Project

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

First, while the primary purposes of the two commitment schemes are not the same, both are designed to provide involuntary treatment to people with mental illnesses. That similarity of purpose is sufficient for E.B.'s equal protection claim to survive the initial inquiry. It is true, as the Public Guardian points out, that previous cases relied on the relationship between SVPs and OMHDs and their underlying criminal conduct to find them similarly situated to NGIs with respect to the right to refuse to testify. (OBM 16-18.) But this connection simply made

It easier for those courts to find the groups similarly situated. Those decisions do not stand for the proposition that individuals subject to civil commitment under other frameworks can only be found similarly situated to NGIs (or SVPs, for example) if the basis for the commitment is a finding of past criminal conduct and a risk of future dangerousness attributable to a mental disorder. There is no inherent relationship between making a dangerousness determination and the applicability of the right not to testify.

After acknowledging many of the differences the Public Guardian has identified between criminal proceedings and LPS conservatorship proceedings – as well as the differences between LPS and NGI proceedings – the Court of Appeal below emphasized that they are "not dispositive in determining whether the groups are similarly situated *for purposes of the testimonial privilege*." (E.B., supra, 45 Cal.App.5th at pp. 995-996, emphasis in original.) To the contrary:

It is not a reasonable distinction to say that individuals who have not engaged in criminal conduct can be required to testify against themselves in a trial to determine whether they might be committed against their will when a person whose commitment is linked to his criminal conduct can elect to remain silent. At least, the nature of the commitment requires a finding that the groups are similarly situated for purposes of requiring the state to justify this disparate treatment.

(Id. at p. 996.)

Rather than focus too myopically on the differences between LPS and NGI proceedings, the Court of Appeal below gave due consideration to their relevant similarities, especially "the nature of the confinement under [the LPS Act's] provisions and the resulting deprivation of liberty." (*Id.* at p. 993.) Because the "theoretical maximum period of detention [under the LPS Act] is life as successive petitions may be filed," the Court of Appeal below recognized that "[a]n LPS conservatee thus faces an involuntary commitment similar to NGI's (and [OMHDs] and SVP's) even if the reason behind that commitment is more benevolent." (*Id.* at p. 994, quoting *Roulet*, *supra*. 23 Cal.2d at pp. 223-224.)

The Court of Appeal also acknowledged that "many of the same procedural protections apply in a trial to declare someone an LPS conservatee as apply in other proceedings to establish involuntary commitments." (E.B., supra, 45 Cal.App.5th. at p. 994 [citing the government's burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt, the right to a jury trial, and the right to a unanimous verdict].) In this regard, the Court of Appeal is not without company. In finding that NGIs were more like LPS conservatees than criminal defendants with respect to the right to Wende review, Martinez explained: "Just as there are protections in place in conservatorship proceedings to guard against an erroneous conclusion ([citation omitted]), so too are there procedures in place to protect one committed to a state hospital pursuant to section 1026.5." (Martinez, supra, 246 Cal.App.4th at p. 1239; see also People v. Tilbury (1991) 54 Cal.3d 56, 69.)

E.B. does not deny that, when compared to NGI proceedings, there are more procedural hurdles for the government to jump over in an LPS proceeding in order for a

person to find himself or herself facing the prospect of a renewable one-year conservatorship. (See OBM 21.) But the question before this Court now is whether the right not to testify must be extended to proposed LPS conservatees when they have reached the LPS Act's most serious form of commitment. Proposed LPS conservatees are no less similarly situated to NGIs because the government exhausted other options not available in the NGI context before arriving at the LPS Act's longest commitment of last resort.

The Public Guardian also points to procedural protections in place for LPS conservatees after a conservatorship has been established, such as the right to petition for rehearing (OBM 23) and the trial court's "ongoing supervision focused on the LPS conservatee's current needs, condition, and progress" (OBM 20). There are similar – though not identical – statutory safeguards in place for NGIs. As noted above, NGIs can file conditional and then unconditional release petitions per Penal Code section 1026.2 as they progress through their treatment at the state hospital. Moreover, the right to petition for rehearing in LPS conservatorship proceedings – while a valuable backstop against over-institutionalization – places the burden of proof on the conservatee. (Conservatorship of John L. (2010) 48 Cal.4th 131, 152.) It can hardly be said that denying proposed LPS conservatees the right to refuse to testify against themselves at the initial appointment stage when the state carries the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt is justified by later permitting

conservatees to seek release at a hearing where the burden will be on them to prove they are no longer gravely disabled.

Additionally, trial courts presiding over NGI proceedings — as in LPS conservatorship proceedings and unlike in criminal proceedings — have continuing jurisdiction over an insanity acquittee's conditions of confinement, extending, for example, to whether a hospital patient should be afforded "grounds privileges" deemed a necessary prerequisite to progressing through the institution's treatment program toward restoration to sanity and eventual release. (*In re Cirino* (1972) 28 Cal.App.3d 1009, 1012-1016; see also *People v. Michael W.* (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 1111, 1119 [discussing a trial court's authority in the NGI context "to approve transfers of defendants to or between treatment facilities"]; see also *Martinez*, *supra*, 246 Cal.App.4th at p. 1239 ["During the NGI's confinement, the medical director of the state hospital in which the NGI is confined must file written reports with the court"].)

Justice Burns' concurring opinion below acknowledged most of the same specific procedural safeguards respondent alleges are unique to LPS conservatorship proceedings (*E.B.*, supra, 45 Cal.App.5th at p. 1004 (conc. opn. of Burns, J.)) but nevertheless still found LPS conservatees similarly situated to persons subject to other forms of civil commitment who have a statutory or equal protection right (pending further justification) not to be compelled to testify as witnesses against themselves (*id.* at p. 1005 (conc. opn. of Burns, J.). This Court should hold the same.

The Court of Appeal below properly factored in the serious deprivation of liberty at work in conservatorship proceedings in finding proposed LPS conservatees similarly situated to NGIs when it comes to compelled testimony. After noting that "the state has determined to extend the privilege against self-incrimination to persons subject to an NGI extension proceeding" and that "SVP's and [OMHDs] have been deemed by the courts to be similarly situated," the Court of Appeal emphasized just how intrusive an LPS conservatorship can be:

"[OMHD], NGI, and LPS proceedings have the same underlying goal – protecting the public and treating severely mentally ill persons. [Citations.] In the LPS context, [t]he destruction of an individual's personal freedoms effected by civil commitment is scarcely less total than that effected by confinement in a penitentiary. [Citation.] [T]he gravely disabled person for whom a conservatorship has been established faces the loss of many other liberties in addition to the loss of his or her freedom from physical restraint. [Citation.] Indeed, a conservatee may be subjected to greater control of his or her life than one convicted of a crime."

(E.B., supra, 45 Cal.App.5th at pp. 996-997, quoting Heather W., supra, 245 Cal.App.4th at p. 383, internal quotation marks omitted.)

It is this massive curtailment of liberty at issue in both LPS conservatorship and NGI proceedings that renders the two groups similarly situated for the limited purpose of the right to refuse to testify. The Public Guardian has identified many ways in which the Legislature has drawn reasonable distinctions between proposed LPS conservatees and NGIs. But none of these differences undermines the Court of Appeal's determination that

people facing commitment proceedings under these frameworks are similarly situated with respect to compelled testimony.

# G. The Public Guardian Has Yet to Justify the Disparate Treatment Afforded LPS Conservatees and NGIs Under the Strict Scrutiny Standard

Having established above that LPS conservatees and NGIs are similarly situated for the purpose of affording them the right to refuse to testify, the second and final question is whether the government can justify the disparate treatment they currently receive. "When the disparity implicates a suspect class or a fundamental right, strict scrutiny applies." (Flint, supra, 22 Cal.App.5th at p. 990.) "Under the strict scrutiny test, the state has the burden of establishing it has a compelling interest that justifies the law and that the distinctions, or disparate treatment, made by that law are necessary to further its purpose." (Field, supra, 1 Cal.App.5th at p. 197.) This Court has held that "[u]nder California law, [s]trict scrutiny is the appropriate standard against which to measure [equal protection] claims of disparate treatment in civil commitment." (Smith, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 1263, internal quotation marks omitted.)

There is no principled reason not to apply that rigorous standard to E.B.'s equal protection claim. In *Flint*, the appellate court found the strict scrutiny standard applicable because, "[c]onsidering the potential impact of an SVP testifying at his or her commitment hearing, it logically follows that an SVP's testimony could have a direct impact on the SVP's liberty interest, namely the prosecution could use the testimony to prove

that he or she should remain committed." (*Flint*, *supra*, 22 Cal.App.5th at p. 993, quoting *Field*, *supra*, 1 Cal.App.5th at p. 196.) The same can be said of LPS conservatees. (See *J.Y.*, *supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 232.)

E.B. can conceive of no compelling state interest that would justify denying LPS conservatees the right not to testify when that right is granted to other individuals subject to civil commitment in California. For example, nothing in the record establishes that hospital records are more available in NGI commitment proceedings than in LPS conservatorship proceedings, which would render an LPS conservatee's testimony more necessary than that of an NGI. (See, e.g., *Curlee, supra*, 237 Cal.App.4th at p. 721.)

Nor does the "compelling need for truth in conservatorship proceedings" (*Baber*, *supra*, 153 Cal.App.3d at p. 550) – including the needs to establish whether the proposed conservatee will accept mental health treatment, to probe the proposed conservatee's insight into his or her mental health, or to examine his or her plan to provide for food, clothing, and shelter – require compelled testimony. (See OBM 26-30.) In fact, the substantial documentary evidence admitted at E.B.'s conservatorship trial suggests there is no issue with availability of psychiatric records at LPS conservatorship trials. (See RT 83-84 [where the trial court admitted redacted psychiatric record exhibits offered by the Public Guardian]; see also CT 69; see also *Conservatorship of S.A.* (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 438, 447-448 [authorizing the admission of

detailed psychiatric records under the business records exception to the hearsay rule in LPS conservatorship proceedings].)

Ascertaining the truth is of vital importance in all commitment proceedings, including ones for which the right to refuse to testify has been recognized (either by statute or by virtue of equal protection principles). Surely, at extended insanity commitment proceedings, where public protection is the primary concern, one might argue it would be essential to ask the committed person directly whether he or she would accept treatment if unconditionally released in the community, to probe his or her insight into his or her mental health, and to inquire about past, present, and future indicators of dangerousness. And, yet, the Legislature has granted such individuals the right to refuse to testify. Similarly, at SVP commitment proceedings, where once again public protection is the primary concern, one might argue it would be essential to ask the committed person directly whether he or she would accept treatment if unconditionally released in the community, to probe his or her insight into his or her mental health, and to inquire about past, present, and future indicators of the likelihood of the person engaging in predatory acts of sexual violence. And, yet, Curlee and its progeny applied established equal protection principles to guarantee such individuals the right not to testify pending further justification. As the Court of Appeal below observed: "This interest in an accurate verdict exists in all involuntary commitment schemes – indeed, it might be argued that the interest is even greater when the mental illness results in the

person being a danger to others." (*E.B.*, *supra*, 45 Cal.App.5th at p. 996.)

The Public Guardian notes that, in previously rejecting a constitutional right not to testify in commitment proceedings, "this Court found that the testimony of a person whose mental condition was at issue in a commitment hearing 'may in fact be the most reliable and probative indicator of the person's present mental condition." (OBM 28, citing Cramer, supra, 23 Cal.3d. at p. 139.) This observation is no doubt true, but, more recently, after considering the same aspect of Cramer, this Court in Hudec "[g]rant[ed] that trial accuracy considerations arguably support compelling a committee's testimony" but then noted that "other considerations could be viewed as militating against such compulsion[.]" (Hudec, supra, 60 Cal.4th at p. 830.) Application of the right to refuse to testify may impact trial accuracy, but, as in the NGI context, "its recognition will not tend to prevent [an LPS conservatorship proceeding from going forward. The [Public Guardian in [a conservatorship] hearing does not typically depend solely on the respondent's testimony; before [a conservatorship] petition can even come to hearing, the [Public Guardian must submit affidavits providing a factual basis to support the findings required for extension." (Id. at p. 829.) Borrowing once more from *Hudec*, if proposed LPS conservatees refuse to testify, the Public Guardian will in some cases lose desired evidence, but granting this right will not as a general matter preclude the establishment of LPS conservatorships. (See *ibid*.)

E.B.'s case supports this contention. The Court of Appeal's finding that the trial court's error in allowing the Public Guardian to call E.B. as a witness in its case-in-chief was nonprejudicial – whether analyzed under the federal harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard or the less stringent standard used for assessing state law errors – demonstrates that compelled testimony is not necessary to accomplish the purposes of the LPS Act. (*Id.* at pp. 998-999.) In deeming the error harmless, the Court of Appeal necessarily determined the Public Guardian did not need E.B.'s testimony to prove its case.

Unless and until the government can justify the disparate treatment inherent in depriving LPS conservatees the right not to testify, failing to grant them the statutory privilege extended to NGIs violates their equal protection rights.

### H. Adopting E.B.'s Position Would Avoid a Potential Intra-LPS Act Equal Protection Violation

E.B.'s conservatorship was predicated on the more common of two definitions of grave disability found in the LPS Act: the inability to provide for one's own food, clothing, or shelter. (§ 5008, subd. (h)(1)(A).) But, as noted above, there is a second definition of grave disability in this context, a Murphy conservatorship. Pursuant to section 5350, subdivision (b)(2), "a so-called Murphy conservatorship may be established under

¹⁰ The term "Murphy conservatorship" takes its name "after the legislator who sponsored the amendment that added the [second] definition [of grave disability] to the [LPS] Act in 1974." (*Karriker*, *supra*, 149 Cal.App.4th at p. 775.)

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